IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

APPEAL NO. SC06-2090

LOWER TRIBUNAL NO.: 2004-01378-CFAWS

STATE OF FLORIDA

VS.

TROY VICTORINO

ON DIRECT APPEAL FROM THE SEVENTH CIRCUIT IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY

AMENDED APPELLANTS BRIEF CRIMINAL CASE

J. JEFFERY DOWDY, ESQUIRE DOWDY & NIELSEN 720 WEST STATE ROAD 434 WINTER SPRINGS, FLORIDA 32708 407/327-5865--[FAX 407/327-0384] ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 6, 2004, six people asleep in their home, and a dog were beaten and killed with baseball bats. The victims of the crime were Erin Belanger, Michelle Nathan, Anthony Vega, Roberto Gonzalez, Francisco Ayo Roman, Jonathan Gleason, and a dog named George.

The alleged ringleader of the murders was Troy Victorino hereinafter referred to as "Appellant". It was alleged the Appellant, Jerone Hunter, and others were squatting in victim Erin Belanger's grandmother's home. The Appellant was in jail on an unrelated charge when Erin Belanger removed the Appellant's clothes and other personal belongings from the home. (V1, pp 1-3) (V1, pp 191-193).

When the Appellant was released from jail he attempted to get his belongings back but was unable to do so. It was alleged the Appellant enlisted the help of Jerone Hunter, Michael Salas, and Robert Cannon to commit the murders. Cannon pled guilty and was not tried with the others.

The Appellant and three co-defendants Michael Salas, Jerone Hunter, and Robert Anthony Cannon, were jointly indicted on August 23, 2004 by the Volusia County grand jury upon six counts of first degree murder, one count of conspiracy to commit murder, five counts of abuse of a dead human body, armed burglary of a dwelling with intent to commit murder, and cruelty to an animal for offenses alleged

to have occurred in Deltona, Florida, on August 6, 2004. (V1, pp 29-34). The Defendants were subsequently charged in a superseding Indictment in fourteen (14) counts filed on August 27, 2004, containing the same charges. (VI, pp 43-48). The State served notice of intent to seek the death penalty on September 1, 2004. (V1, p 52).

Before the jury trial began the Appellant filed a Motion for Severance. (V3, pp 516-517).

On October 21, 2005 a hearing on the Motion to Sever was held. The Appellant argued that a joinery of all of the defendants would deny him a fair trial for numerous reasons. At the hearing the State also advanced several arguments against the motion being granted. One of the arguments advanced was the inconvenience of trying the co-defendants separately. (V10, p 1662). The State argued to the trial court the hindrance it would thus place on its witnesses and the victims' families, declaring that such inconvenience outweighed the Appellant's constitutionally protected rights under the Eight Amendment and Fourteenth Amendment to the Constitution. (V10, pp 1661-1664).

On November 2, 2005, in a written order the trial court denied the Appellant's Motion for Severance. (V4, pp 721-729) The Appellant renewed the severance motion several times during the trial thereby preserving the issue for this appeal. (V29, p 1793) (V34, p 2552) (V38, p 3102-3103) (V40, pp 3337-3340).

Appellant counsel filed a pretrial motion to suppress the DNA samples taken from the Appellant. (V4, pp 634-635).

On August 26, 2005 an evidentiary hearing was held on the Appellant's motion to suppress DNA samples taken from the Appellant. (Supp.V1 pp 1-94). The trial court denied the motion to suppress the DNA samples taken from the Appellant. in a written order on September 12, 2005 (V4, pp 652-657).

Investigators gathered evidence from the Appellants residence at 1001 Ft. Smith Blvd in Deltona on August 8, 2004. (V33, p 2391). The Appellant filed a pretrial motion to suppress all evidence taken from the Ft. Smith residence. (V5, pp 941-946).

The evidentiary hearing on the motion to suppress all of the items taken from the Ft. Smith residence was held on March 27, 2006.

On April 6, 2006 the trial court issued a written order denying the motion to suppress the items taken from the Ft. Smith house. (V7, 1239-1257).

The trial court ruled that the actual owner of the residence, Mr. Melendez consented to the search. Furthermore, even though the affiant for the search warrant had no personal knowledge of the facts, he is not required to. He learned of the information from a wide array of sources. Also, the identified citizens who provided information were not anonymous tipsters that needed their information corroborated. Lastly, the affiant did not misrepresent anything. (V7 pp 1239-1253).

Robert Cannon, a co-defendant, pled guilty to six counts of murder, abuse of a dead human body with a weapon, conspiracy to commit aggravated battery, armed burglary of a dwelling, cruelty to animals. (V30, pp 1936-1939).

On April 10, 2006 in Deland Florida, Volusia County the jury trial of the remaining three defendants began. After an impartial jury could not be selected in Volusia County, venue for trial was changed to St. Johns County, Florida, on April 25, 2006. (V7, pp 1332-1335).

On May 26, 2006 the State filed a Notice of Intent to Rely on Evidence Of Prior Bad Acts or Other Crimes Pursuant to F.S. 90.404(2) requesting evidence of an August 5, 2004 shooting incident involving the Appellant be allowed into evidence at trial. (V7, pp 1361-1367, (V7, pp 1370-1371). The trial court granted the Notice of Intent to introduce the 404 evidence. (V8, pp 1402-1411).

On July 5, 2006 in St. Augustine, Florida, St. Johns County, the Appellant and co-defendants Salas and Hunter were tried jointly by a 12 person jury before the Honorable William A. Parsons. (V17, p 41).

On July 12, 2006 The Appellant requested additional peremptory challenges. The trial court denied the request. (V28 p 1687).

On July 25, 2006 The Appellant was convicted of conspiracy (to commit aggravated battery, murder, armed burglary of a dwelling, and tampering with physical evidence) (count one); first degree premeditated and felony murders of Erin

Belanger, Francisco Ayo-Roman, Jonathan W. Gleason, Roberto Manuel Gonzalez, Michelle Ann Nathan, and Anthony Vega (counts two to seven); abuse of the dead human body of Erin Belanger (count eight); armed burglary of a dwelling with a weapon (count thirteen); and cruelty to an animal (count fourteen). The Appellant was found not guilty on counts nine through twelve. (V44, pp 4017-4019).

A penalty phase for the three defendants was held commencing July 27, 2006, in St. Johns County before the same jury. (V46, p 4123).

On August 1, 2006, the jury recommended a death sentence for the Appellant for four of the murder counts. (V51, pp 5051-5059). The court followed the jury recommendation and sentenced the Appellant to death on September 21, 2006. (V9, pp 1558-1579).

This appeal was timely filed on October 19, 2006. (V9, pp 1580-1581)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On August 6, 2004 at 6:30 a.m., a visitor to the house at 3106 Telford Lane, Deltona, Florida, found the front door open and saw a body in the living room. (V29, p 1796-1798). The visitor called 911, and Volusia County Sheriff's deputies were dispatched to the scene. (V29, pp 1805-1806).

Inside, deputies and Florida Department of Law Enforcement personnel found the deceased bodies of four (4) men, two (2) women and a small dog (a Dachshund), to-wit: Erin Belanger, Francisco Roman and the dog were found in the back right master bedroom; Jonathan Gleason and Anthony Vega were found in living room; Michelle Nathan was found in the front left bedroom, and Roberto Gonzalez was found lying in the doorway to the back left bedroom. (V29, pp 1805-1818). All victims had signs of blunt force injuries to the head and other area of their bodies and also knife wounds to the neck and upper torso. (V29, pp 1805-1818).

FDLE crime scene technician, Stacy Colton, processed the crime scene at the murder scene. (V29, pp 1823-1826). Colton collected a knife handle and knife blade from the residence because there was blood on them and the victims appeared to have stab wounds. (V29, pp 1860-1861).

Colton photographed damage to the front door of the residence. (V29, p 1833). A heel print of a shoe was found in the center of the door 36 inches above the front

porch floor (V30, p 1923). Colton prepared a diagram of the home indicating the placement of the dead bodies and all of the items of evidence she collected from the residence (V29, pp 1840-1841). There was also a videotape of the crime scene that was introduced into evidence. The video showed the damage to the front door as well as all of the rooms of the residence. (V30, pp 1919-1920, State Exhibit 22).

There were four bats that were recovered from a retention pond and were processed for latent prints. There were no latent prints on the external surfaces. (V30, pp 2655, 2568, 1662). One bat contained four unidentified latent prints underneath the tape. (V35, pp 2658-2659, 2663).

Robert Cannon, a co-defendant, pled guilty to six counts of murder, abuse of a dead human body with a weapon, conspiracy to commit aggravated battery, armed burglary of a dwelling, cruelty to animals. In exchange for his guilty plea Cannon agreed to testify truthfully against his co-defendants and would receive a life sentence. (V30, pp 1936-1939).

After FDLE crime scene technician, Stacy Colton testified, the State called Cannon to testify. (V30, pp 1935-1936). At first Cannon answered all of the questions asked of him. He admitted he pled plead guilty to the murders. (V30, pp 1936-1939). After admitting to pleading guilty to the murders Cannon requested to speak to the Court, thereupon the jury was excused from the courtroom. (V30, pp 1941).

While the jury was removed the State moved the court to allow Cannon to be treated as a hostile witness. The ore tenus motion was granted and the Appellant objected in a timely manner. (V30, pp 1945-1947).

After a brief recess the jury was brought back in. Again Cannon refused to testify. (V30, p 1948). The State again began to ask Cannon leading questions and again the Appellant objected. (V30, p 1948). Over repeated leading questions the trial court allowed the Appellant to have a standing objection to all of Cannons "testimony" (V30, p 1950). Finally after repeatedly refusing to answer any further questions, Cannon testified that it was the Appellants intention to kill everyone in the house. (V30, p 1951).

After repeated questioning by Appellants attorney, Cannon did not answer any questions. He stated he is not guilty and will not answer to anyone but the Lord. (V30, p 1953). After refusing to answer any questions Cannon on his own orally moved to withdraw his plea. (V30, p 1957). The Appellant moved for a mistrial and the trial court granted a standing objection to all the leading questions asked by the State thereby preserving the issue for this appeal. (V30, pp 1945-1947, 1950, V32, p 2233 pp 2226-2242).

The Appellant was unable to conduct any meaningful cross-examination of Cannon because he refused to answer any questions. Even thought the trial court ordered Cannon to answer the Appellants questions, Cannon refused. (V30, p 1948-

1963).

Brandon Graham testified that he was a friend of Salas and Cannon. Graham testified he met Hunter and Appellant only a few days before the murders. (V30, pp 1971-1973). Graham testified on August 1, 2004 all four of them went to the Telford residence to pick up some of Victorino's belongings. (V30, p 1974-1975). The four were accompanied by some girls. (V30, pp 1974-1975). The girls went into the house and retrieved Appellants CD case. (V30, p 1976). Graham, Hunter, Salas and Cannon were all armed with bats. (V30, p 2001). Appellant did not go up to the house. (V30, p 2004, V40, p 3392). An unknown person yelled that the police were on their way and everyone left. (V30, pp 1976-1977).

Over objection by the Appellant, Graham testified on August 4, 2004, Appellant and the group went to a park to fight some other kids, but no one showed up. (V30, 1981-1982). They later saw the group they intended to fight and the Appellant shot into their vehicle. (V30, p 1983).

The State had previously filed a Notice of Intent to Rely on Evidence Of Prior Bad Acts or Other Crimes Pursuant to F.S. 90.404 (2) on May 26, 2006 requesting this testimony be allowed into evidence at trial. (V7, pp 1361-1367, (V7, pp 1370-1371). The trial court granted the Notice of Intent to introduce the 404 evidence. (V8, pp 1402-1411). At the trial the Appellant timely objected to this testimony on the grounds that it was improper 404 evidence, thus preserving the issue for this

appeal. (V30, p 1979). The trial court allowed the introduction of the August 4, 2004 incident into evidence. (V30, p 1979).

Graham testified on August 5, 2007, he was at the Appellant and Hunter's residence 1001 Ft. Smith Boulevard. Graham testified Salas and Cannon were also present. (V30, p 1986-1987). Graham testified that the Appellant stated he wish he had a group to help him kill people with lead pipes. Graham said the other four all agreed to do it and he just shook his head in agreement. (V30, pp 1986-2012).

According to Graham the Appellant then started mapping out the Telford house and started to plan the murders. (V30, p 1986). Graham, Appellant, Hunter, Cannon and Salas were all together in Cannon's Expedition and they all had bats. (V30, p 1989). Graham was dropped off at Kristopher Craddock's house and he never rejoined the group that night. He was suppose to rejoin them later around 9:00 but would not answer their phone calls. (V30, pp 1923-1993).

The next morning after the murders, Graham found out that six people were murdered in Deltona. (V30, p 1994). Later in the day Graham saw all four Defendants at Salas' grandmother's house. (V30, p 1996). A few days later Graham informed the police of his knowledge about the murders at Telford Lane. (V30, pp 1997-1998). Kristopher Craddock testified at trial and corroborated Graham's version of the events. (V31 pp 2164-2188).

Deputy John McDonald testified that on July 30, 2004, he responded to 1590

Providence Blvd. The owner of home was Norma Reiddy and lived in Maine. Norma Reiddy was the grandmother of victim Erin Belanger. Belanger had called the police to report that there appeared to be people at the home that were not suppose to be there. (V30, pp 1996-1997); (V31, p 2045, p 2081). When Deputy McDonald arrived at the residence he met Amanda Francis and Brandon Sheets.

Sheets told Deputy McDonald, Joshua Spencer (Norman Reiddy's grandson) gave them permission to stay at the house. (V31, p 2099). Norma Reiddy had previously given a house key to Spencer when he lived with her. Ms. Reiddy believed Spencer had returned the house keys to her. (V31, p 2155). Norma Reiddy testified she had previously met the Appellant and he was cordial. (V31, p 2157).

Amanda Francis told Deputy McDonald the Appellant gave them permission to be there. (V31, p 2099). Norma Reiddy was contacted and informed law enforcement that Erin Belanger was her granddaughter and no one had permission to be at the 1590 Providence home except Erin. (V31, pp 2095-2096).

Deputy Taylor Sierstorpff testified that on July 31, 2004 he responded to 1590 Providence Blvd. and met with Erin Belanger and Francisco Roman. They wanted to report some items were missing from the residence. (V31, pp 2105-2106). Sierstorpff testified he saw clothing, shoes and items in a box bearing the Appellant's name on them at the residence. Erin Belanger told Sierstorpff she knew Appellant had been staying in home. (V30, p 2109). The day before Deputy McDonald told Belanger to

return the items or get rid of them. (V30, p 2103).

Kimberly Jenkins testified that she knew the six victims. (V31, pp 2115-2116). Jenkins testified she was at the Telford house on July 31, 2004 when the Appellant approached Erin Belanger about getting his property back. (V31, pp 2119-2120).

The Appellant had previously reported to the police that his property was stolen from the 1590 Providence residence. (V31, p 2138).

On the night of August 1, 2004, Erin Belanger called 911. Belanger reported that people were in front of her house and she needed help. Belanger stated she believed it was the Appellant and others attempting to retrieve their belongings. (V32, pp 2266-2286). Belanger placed a second 911 call and told the 911 operator that the same people were back banging on her door and she was afraid. (V32, pp 2296-2299, 2308)

Beverly Irving testified she was an assistant manager at the 7-Eleven store on Providence Blvd. in Deltona and was working on August 5, 2004. Irvin testified she ensured they the stores security tape was changed daily. The 7-Eleven stores security video was introduced into evidence. (V32, pp 2309-2310; 2311, 2323); (State Exhibit 28).

Jane Colaillo a video producer, created still photographs of faces and footwear of customers from the 7-Eleven tape. (V32, pp 2336-2337, State Exhibit 30). State Exhibit 30 was a poster board of still photos from 7-Eleven shortly before the

murders were committed showing the Appellant wearing Lugz boots. (V35, p 2733).

Richard Graves of the Volusia County Sheriff's Office processed the crime scene at the Telford residence. (V33, p 2361-2362). Graves also attended the autopsies of the six victims. (V33, p 2368). Graves collected hair and blood from all of six victims, (V33, p 2370, 2375, State Exhibit 31; V33, p 2379, State Exhibit 32; V33 p 2380, State Exhibit 2381; State Exhibit 34; V33, p 2383, State Exhibit 35; V33, p 2384, State Exhibit 36). Additionally Graves obtained a DNA sample from Appellant. (V33, p 2384); (State Exhibit 37).

Appellant filed a pretrial motion to suppress the DNA samples taken from the Appellant. (V4, pp 634-635).

On August 26, 2005 an evidentiary hearing was held on the Appellant's motion to suppress DNA samples taken from the Appellant. (Supp.V1 pp 1-94).

The Appellant testified he was arrested on August 7, 2004 around two o'clock in the afternoon and taken into custody. (Supp.V1, p 8). The Appellant was transported to the Operations Center. (Supp. V1, p 9).

The Appellant testified he sat and remained in the Sheriff's squad car until approximately 6-7:00 p.m. (Supp. V1, p 10). After being removed from the car, the Appellant said he was taken to an interrogation room. (Supp.V1, p 11). The Appellant testified he was interviewed by two Sheriff's Investigators, i.e., Lawrence Horzepa and Gregory Seymour. (Supp.V1, p 12). The Investigators verbally read the

Appellant his rights and then asked him to sign a waiver of them. (Supp.V1, p 12). The Appellant inquired as to whether he was under arrest for anything else or was a suspect, the Investigators responded in the negative. (Supp.V1, p 12). The Appellant signed the waiver form. (Supp.V1, p 12). After continuous questioning the Appellant adamantly denied participation in any crime and offered information of his whereabouts the evening of the homicide occurrence. (Supp.V1, p 13).

The Appellant testified after being left alone, he fell asleep in the Interrogation Room. (Supp.V1, p 13). Subsequently thereafter the Appellant testified two (2) uniformed Deputies entered the room accompanied by Investigator Gregory Seymour and told them they were going to obtain DNA samples. (Supp.V1, p 14). The Appellant said he refused and told the Officer he has to get a warrant. (Supp. V1, p 14).

According to the Appellant's testimony Officer's Charles Dowell and Richard Graves approached the Appellant. Investigator Gregory Seymour remained in the doorway. Then Officer Dowell grabbed the Appellant's already restrained hands and held them against the table. Office Graves forcibly grabbed the Appellant's cheek area with his right hand, applied pressure and opened the Appellant's mouth. Using his left hand, Office Graves inserted two swabs obtained swabbing, place them in a box, and laid them on the interrogation table. Then, while Officer Dowell continually restrained the Appellant's hands, he (Officer Graves) scraped his nails on to wax

paper, collected these items, then left. immediately. (Supp.V1, pp 14-16).

The Appellant testified at no time did the Appellant consent to the procuring of buccal swabs or nail scrapings. (Supp.V1, p 16) The Sheriff's Investigators had at that time available to them consent forms for such, but did not offer or receive one from the Appellant. It was also later found that the entire interrogation was video and audio recorded, unbeknownst to the Appellant. However, the video and audio recording was terminated prior to the forcible removal of the buccal swabs and nail scrapings for alleged privacy purposes. (V4 pp. 652-657).

The trial court denied the motion in a written order on September 12, 2005 (V4, pp 652-657). The Appellant renewed the motion before the DNA sample was allowed into evidence thereby preserving the issue for this appeal. (V33, pp 2386-2387).

Graves also gathered evidence from the Appellants residence at 1001 Ft. Smith Blvd in Deltona on August 8, 2004. (V33, p 2391). The Appellant filed a pretrial motion to suppress all evidence taken from the Ft. Smith residence. (V5, pp 941-946). On April 6,2006 the trial court issued a written order denying the motion to suppress the items taken from the Ft. Smith house. (V7, 1239-1257).

The suppression hearing took place on March 27, 2006. The trial court ruled that the actual owner of the residence, Mr. Melendez consented to the search. Furthermore, even though the affiant for the search warrant had no personal

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