IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC06-2090

TROY VICTORINO

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellee.

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

> BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT KENNETH S. NUNNELLEY Fla. Bar No. 998818 ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL 444 SEABREEZE BLVD., SUITE 500 DAYTONA BEACH, FLORIDA 32114 (386)238-4990 FAX - (386) 226-0457

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

IX. THE "DISPARATE SENTENCE" CLAIM

On pages 83-85 of his brief, Victorino argues that his sentence is "extremely disparate" in comparison to two of his co-defendants. One co-defendant, Cannon, entered a guilty plea, and was sentenced to life without parole on 6 murder counts. Salas was convicted after trial, but the jury recommended life without parole sentences for him. Based upon the evidence presented, it is clear that Victorino, and to a slightly lesser extent Hunter, were the driving forces behind these murders. And, given that the same jury heard all of the evidence as to the defendants, there can be no claim that the jury did not know the result in the co-defendants' cases. Based upon the evidence, it is clear that Victorino was the ringleader, and, therefore, the most culpable of all. His sentence is not disproportionate under the facts, and should not be disturbed. *Gonzalez v. State*, 33 Fla. L. Weekly S451, 456 (Fla. July 3, 2008).

X. THE "AND/OR" JURY INSTRUCTION CLAIM

On pages 85-89 of his brief, Victorino argues that the use of the "and/or" conjunction in certain guilt phase jury instructions entitle him to relief. This claim is preserved at V42, R3697. He does argue, on page 81 of his brief, that this "error" is "fundamental." That position has been squarely rejected by this Court. *Garzon v. State*, 980 So. 2d 1038, 1045

(Fla. 2008).⁵⁴ In this case, under the facts, any error was harmless for the reasons set out below.

To the extent that further discussion is necessary, codefendant Salas raised this claim on appeal from his convictions, and the Fifth District Court of Appeal rejected that claim, and held that the "verdicts reflect individualized analysis by the jury of the charges against each defendant," and found harmless error. *Salas v. State*, 972 So. 2d 941 (Fla. 5th DCA 2007). Accord, *Zeno v. State*, 922 So. 2d 431 (Fla. 2d DCA 2006)

Under all of the facts and circumstances of this case, including the record, the instructions as a whole, the verdicts and the theory of prosecution, reversible error did not occur. See, Salas, supra. To be fundamental error, an erroneous jury instruction "must reach down into the validity of the trial itself to the extent that a verdict of guilty could not have been obtained without the assistance of the alleged error." Garzon, 939 So.2d at 282, quoting State v. Delva, 575 So. 2d 643 (Fla. 1991). The purpose of the general rule prohibiting the use of the "and/or" language is to prevent one defendant from being improperly convicted for the criminal conduct of another; if the purpose for the rule is not served in a particular case, the

⁵⁴ Garzon was released after Victorino's brief was filed.

rule may be inapplicable. *Tolbert v. State*, 922 So. 2d 1013 (Fla. 2006).

The determination of whether fundamental error occurred requires that the and/or instructions be examined in the context of the other jury instructions, the attorneys' arguments and the evidence in the case to decide whether the verdict of guilty could not have been obtained without the assistance of the alleged error. *Garzon*, 939 So. 2d 278. The Third District has also recognized that where there is a material distinction between the cases of codefendants, a new trial need not be granted because the error in giving a jury instruction with the "and/or" conjunction can be harmless error. *Lloyd v. Crosby*, 917 So. 2d 988 (Fla. 3rd DCA 2005).

This case is similar to *Tolbert*, *supra*, where the Fifth District found that when the codefendant is acquitted of all charges, the jury cannot be misled into believing that the defendant can be held criminally responsible for the conduct of the codefendant. *Id*. The Court stated that "the illogic that emanates from application of the rule in such a situation is readily apparent and leads us to believe that the rule does not apply in cases where the codefendant was acquitted." *Id*. In this case, it is just as apparent that the jury was not misled and carefully considered each charge individually.

Salas, Hunter and Victorino were all found guilty of both first degree premeditated murder and first degree felony murder of all six victims. All three were convicted of conspiracy, and all three were convicted of armed burglary. All three were acquitted of abusing the dead body of Francisco Roman. Significantly, Victorino was found guilty of abusing the body of Erin Belanger; Salas and Hunter were acquitted. Hunter was convicted of the three counts of abusing the bodies of Roberto Gonzalez, Jonathon Gleason and Anthony Vega; Salas and Victorino were acquitted of those counts. Victorino was convicted of cruelty to animals; Hunter and Salas were acquitted. Based on these individualized verdicts, there is no doubt that the jury was not misled in any way.

The same charge was given on all counts, and it is clear that the jury was able to distinguish between codefendants, just as it was instructed to do:

Now, a separate crime is charged against each - Troy Victorino and/or Jerone Hunter and/or Michael Salas in each count of the indictment. Troy Victorino and/or Jerone Hunter and/or Michael Salas have been tried together. However, the charges against each, and the evidence applicable to that person, must be considered separately. A finding of guilty or not guilty as to one must not affect your verdict as to any other of the crimes charged.

(V41, R3966-67).⁵⁵

⁵⁵ The Third District has held that this instruction does not cure any defect. *See, Dorsett v. McCray,* 901 So. 2d 225

In a case such as this, where individualized verdicts were indeed returned, it would defy logic to find that the jury did not follow this instruction, which it is presumed to have done, anyway. *Carter v. Brown and Williamson Tobacco Corp.*, 778 So. 2d 932, 942 (Fla. 2000). As the Fourth District has noted, "jurors are not potted plants." *Garzon, supra*. Nor are they so easily confused that they cannot follow this instruction, particularly when they received individual verdict forms for each of the defendants, and rendered the verdicts accordingly.

Further, the jury was instructed on the principal theory, which can and should also be considered in determining whether or not fundamental error occurred. *Garzon, supra. But see*, *Davis v. State*, 922 So. 2d 279 (Fla. 1st DCA 2006); *Zeno v. State*, 910 So. 2d 394 (Fla. 2005). The principal instruction given in this case utilized the "and/or" conjunction, but that is exactly what the theory of principals means -- a defendant is liable for the criminal acts of his codefendants. This was the State's theory when it argued in closing:

If you follow the law of principal and apply it, and we believe it applies in this case, then it doesn't matter who did what in what room, so long as the intent was to commit the crimes and there was some participation. In other words, they're all charged with each and every crime, and, in fact, each crime of the other, and we believe the evidence - the evidence will show that it is supported.

⁽Fla. 3rd DCA 2005); Harris v. State, 937 So. 2d 211 (Fla. 3rd DCA 2006).

(V21, R2137).

It is apparent that the jury did analyze what happened in what room in relation to each defendant's intent and level of participation, because it acquitted Salas of counts eight through twelve and count fourteen (abuse of the dead bodies of victims Belanger, Roman, Gonzalez, Gleason and Vega, and cruelty to animals), yet convicted Victorino of two of those counts and Hunter of four of those counts. Under the circumstances of this case, the use of the "and/or" conjunction in the substantive jury instructions was not reversible error. Viewed in the context of the entire trial and theory of prosecution, with the giving of the principal and independent act instructions, and multiple defendants instruction, the individualized verdicts that were clearly consistent with the evidence, and the separate verdict forms, any alleged error simply did not go to the fairness or validity of the entire trial. Even if this Court should determine that the use of "and/or" was erroneous, any was harmless because it did not affect Victorino's error substantial rights.⁵⁶ Salas, supra; Fla. Stat, § 924.33 (2007);

⁵⁶ Victorino never suggested an alternative jury instruction. While not a bar to review, it is obvious from the charge conference that the trial court attempted to develop appropriate instructions for the jury. Victorino never argued fundamental error below, and never proposed an instruction that would remove the alleged error.

Goodwin v. State, 751 So. 2d 537, 539 (Fla. 1999). As was the case with Salas, Victorino was convicted based on his own actions, not those of his co-defendants.

XI. THE CHANGE OF VENUE CLAIM

On pages 89-90 of his brief, Victorino cites to a Second District decision for the standard of review that applies to a motion for change of venue. No citation to the record of the hearing on this motion is provided, and no argument in support of this claim is contained in the brief.⁵⁷ In any event, Victorino had no objection to moving the case to St. Johns County. (V14, R2425; 2429-2432).

This Court has held that, to prevail on a claim that the trial court erred in denying a motion for change of venue, the Appellant must establish that the trial court "palpabl[y] abuse[d] . . [its] discretion." Davis v. State, 461 So. 2d 67, 69 (Fla. 1984); Rolling v. State, 695 So. 2d 278 (Fla. 1997) (trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying the change of venue motions since the circumstances do not indicate that the community was so infected by the media coverage of this case that an impartial jury could not be impaneled, and an impartial jury appears to have been seated.) Victorino has not explained how error occurred.

 $^{^{57}}$ Victorino filed a pre-trial motion for change of venue to move the trial to South Florida. (V5, R924-926).

In the context of this case, venue was changed from Volusia County (where the crimes took place) to St. Johns County, roughly 100 miles away.⁵⁸ In any event, Victorino has not demonstrated how the trial court abused its discretion in trying this case in St. Johns County, nor has he presented argument to show how the jury was not fair and impartial, which is an essential component of this claim. This claim is insufficiently briefed, and is not a basis for reversal. *See*, *Reaves v. Crosby*, 837 So. 2d 396 (Fla. 2003), *Duest v. Dugger*, 555 So. 2d 849 (Fla. 1990).

XII. THE RING V. ARIZONA CLAIM

On pages 90-93 of his brief, Victorino argues that Florida's death penalty statute violates *Ring v. Arizona*. Assuming *arguendo* that this claim was preserved by timely objection below (V6, R1081-1089; 1090-1115) this claim is foreclosed by binding precedent. This Court has repeatedly rejected *Ring* claims in cases such as this one where there is an underlying felony (or, in this case, multiple) conviction. The law is settled that:

⁵⁸ Notably, when St. Johns County was originally discussed as a trial venue, co-counsel for Victorino indicated that he was aware that media coverage in that area had been "either nothing or extremely little." (V14, R2427). No defendant objected to moving the trial to St. Johns County. (V14, R2429-30). Likewise, there is no claim that an impartial jury could not be (and was not) selected in St. Johns County.

This Court has recognized that a defendant is not entitled to relief under the "prior-conviction exception" to Apprendi [FN8] where the aggravating circumstances include a prior violent felony conviction. See, e.g., Duest v. State, 855 So. 2d 33, 49 (Fla. 2003). . . See Kimbrough v. State, 886 So. 2d 965, 984 (Fla. 2004); Doorbal v. State, 837 So. 2d 940, 963 (Fla. 2003).

Additionally, this Court has rejected claims that Ring requires the aggravating circumstances to be individually found by a unanimous jury verdict. [citations omitted] The Court has also repeatedly Florida's rejected objections standard to jury instructions based on Caldwell v. Mississippi, 472 U.S. 320, 105 S. Ct. 2633, 86 L. Ed. 2d 231 (1985). [citations omitted].

Evans v. *State*, 975 So 2d 1035, 1052-1053 (Fla. 2007). (footnotes and parenthetical omitted). Victorino has more than enough prior violent felony convictions (five for murder and one for armed burglary) to satisfy any possible interpretation of *Ring*. This claim is not a basis for relief, even assuming that it is properly preserved.

XIII. THE "DUE PROCESS" CLAIM

On pages 93-94 of his brief, Victorino argues that his "due process" rights were violated. This claim is apparently predicated on the fact that Victorino was served with an arrest warrant on April 13, 2006. That date is after the original attempt to seat a jury in Volusia County had begun, and **the same day that the motion to change venue was granted.** (V14, R2333). This issue consumes one page of the transcript. (V14, R2333).

The relief requested by Victorino was a mistrial, which is

effectively what he received when the motion for change of venue was granted, and trial did not resume until some three months later. Whatever Victorino's claim may be, he was not prejudiced -- error, if there was any, was harmless.⁵⁹

XIV. THE "ADDITIONAL PEREMPTORIES" CLAIM

On pages 94-95 of his brief, Victorino argues that he should have been allowed more than 10 peremptory challenges. Victorino's claim is **not** a claim based on *Trotter*. Instead, his claim is apparently that the trial court abused its discretion in allowing him (and all the other parties) the number of peremptory challenges provided for in Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure 3.350(a)(1) and (b) and Florida Statutes § 913.08(2). Victorino asked for "as many [peremptories] as [the court would] possibly consider," which is insufficient under Trotter and does not demonstrate an abuse of discretion. (V28, R1687). Argument on this issue appears at pages 1826-1834 of the record, but that made by counsel for co-defendant Salas, argument was and Victorino did not join in the motion.

In any event, Victorino has advanced no argument to support the notion that the trial court abused its discretion, especially in light of the explicit language of Rule 3.350(e) which expressly states that the trial court may exercise its

⁵⁹ The trial court immediately conducted an initial appearance hearing. (V14, R2333). No complaint about the arrest warrant had been raised previously.

discretion to allow additional challenges "when appropriate." In the absence of any argument suggesting why additional challenges were appropriate, this claim is insufficiently briefed.⁶⁰ Reaves, supra; Duest, supra.

XV. THE MISTRIAL CLAIM

On pages 95-97 of his brief, Victorino claims that the trial court should have declared a mistrial when co-defendant Cannon (who had already entered a guilty plea) "refused to testify or answer questions." A trial court's ruling on a motion for mistrial is subject to the abuse of discretion standard of review. *Goodwin v. State*, 751 So. 2d 537, 546 (Fla. 1999); *Thomas v. State*, 748 So. 2d 970, 980 (Fla. 1999); *Hamilton v. State*, 703 So. 2d 1038, 1041 (Fla. 1997).

Cannon's testimony was extremely brief, and amounted to little more than the statement that Hunter, Cannon, Victorino and Salas entered the house where the murders took place and that all were armed with baseball bats. (V30, R1954).⁶¹ That testimony is entirely consistent with Hunter's confession, and is far less detailed than that confession. (V34, R2523-33; V40, R3374-3441). Assuming for the sake of argument that there was

⁶⁰ The fact that Victorino was not as parsimonious with his challenges as was the State proves nothing at all.

⁶¹ This testimony does, however, provide direct evidence of Victorino's guilt.

some error, that error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. DiGuilio, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986).

Further, Victorino did cross examine Cannon, (V30, R1954) and never moved for a mistrial based upon Cannon's claimed refusal to testify.⁶² Whatever claim Victorino may have had, it is not preserved for review because there was no timely objection.

XVI. THE DENIAL OF A "MISTRIAL"

On pages 97-98 of his brief, Victorino argues that the trial court should have granted a mistrial when counsel objected that the co-defendants intended to "essentially prosecute" Victorino. No record citation is provided, and this claim is insufficiently briefed. It is not incumbent on this Court or the state to review the record in an attempt to discern the basis of a claim raised on appeal. The motions found at V32, R2233⁶³ and V38, R3102⁶⁴ relate to Claim XV - - no motions raising the claim

⁶² The motion for mistrial relied on by Victorino (V30, R1965) was made by counsel for another defendant during Victorino's cross-examination of Cannon. Victornio did not join that motion.

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